POINTS ON APPEAL 

I. THE DECISION BELOW MUST BE REVERSED AND 
JUDGMENT ENTERED FOR RICKE,  UNDER THIS 

DANGEROUS CONDITION, THE ABSENCE OF A DRAIN 
UNDER AN OUTSIDE D R I P  P I P E  WAS UNDISPUTEDLY 

-* COURT'S DECISION I N  SLAVIN,  AS THE ALLEGED 

4 OPEN AND OBVIOUS. 

11. THE THIRD D I S T R I C T  HAS MISAPPLIED THE L A W  S E T  
FORTH I N  PALM BEACH, INFRA, AND IMPROPERLY 
A P P L I E D  THE THEORY O F  ESTOPPEL I N  ORDER TO 
REVERSE THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT I N  FAVOR OF 
RICKE AND THE DECISION BELOW MUST BE REVERSED 
AND THE JUDGMENT A E ' F I W D  FOR RICKE.  

c 
f 

-iv-

INTRODUCTION 

The Petitioner, Ed Ricke and Sons, Inc., will be referred to 

as Ricke or Defendants. 

The Respondent, Demetrius Octavious Green, will be referred 

to as Green or Plaintiff. 

The Record on Appeal will be designated by the letter "R" 

and the Supplemental Record as "SR." 

All emphasis in the Brief is that of the writer unless 

otherwise indicated. 

Included below is the scaled down version of Plaintiff's 

Exhibit 21 from the April 1986 trial which shows the outside drip 

pipe in question. 

-1- 
LAW OFFICE§ RICHARD A .  SHERMAN, P. A .  

SUITE 302. 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE.,  FOHT LAUWERWALE. F L A .  33316 * TEL. (305) 525 -5885 

SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING. 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 * TEL. (305) 940-7557 



STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE 

The opinion of the Third District is in direct and express 

conflict with this Court's decision in Slavin v. Kay, 108 So.2d 

462 (Fla. 1958), and has created new law in Florida announcing 

for the first time anywhere, that hot water, is inherently 

dangerous, sufficient to preclude the application of the Slavin 

doctrine. Green V. Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc., 584 Sa.2d 1101 (Fla. 

3d DCA 1991). The alleged negligent act, hot water spewing out 

of an outside drip pipe, without a drain, took place over a 

quarter of a century ago, and the time period involving this 

litigation is nearly thirty years. 

The Third District also found that Ricke was estopped from 

denying liability for the accident; even though there were three 

prior mistrials, and Ricke never successfully assumed a factual 

position to the prejudice of Green. 

The following in an abbreviated chronology of the events 

that have taken place since 1963, up to and including the present 

time. 

Backqround Facts 

Augu t 2, 1963 - HUD through the Miami Housing Authority has 
plans drawn up to draw up to convert from solar to gas waters at 

the Scott Homes Project (SR 420; 437; 441; 4 4 3 ) .  

January 1965 - Joyner Construction Company, Inc. ,  awarded a 

contract for alteration and repairs to 25 buildings in the Scott 

Homes Project, including installation of water heaters; including 

Building #37 located at N.W. 75th Street and N.W. 24th Avenue 
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(R 899; 9211; 925; 926; SR 209). 

February 19, 1965 - Joyner Construction pulls plumbing 
permits to work on building #37 (site of Plaintiff's accident) 

(SR 188; 281). 

June 7, 1965 - Final plumbing inspection on Joyner's 
construction work on Building #37 (R 899;  S R  188; 189). 

January 5, 1966 - Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc. awarded the contract 

to do alteration and repairs for 26 buildings in the Scott Homes 

Project; including building next to Building #37 (SR 34; R 922; 

926). 

January 26, 1966 - Ed Ricke & Sons pull the plumbing permits 

for work on 26 buildings in the Scott Homes Project (R 922; SR 

282-283). 

May 20, 1966 - Alteration work completed by Ed Ricke and 
approved (no work on Building # 3 7 )  (SR 36). 

1968 - Dade County takes over HUD housing project from Miami 
Housing Authority (SR 412-413). 

1969 - Hot water spewing from drip pipe at Building #37 ,  

pooling on ground on regular basis; resident children warming 

themselves from the steam generated by the hot  water draining 

from the drip pipe at Building #37 (site of Plaintiff's 

accident)(SR 341-342; 346-347). 

December 1976 - Homeowners make requests for repairs to 
water heater to Dade County Building Maintenance; numerous 

repairs to hot water heater and relief value performed by Dade 

County in Building #37 (SR 489-498). 
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March 1977 - Vicky Paxton burned by hot water pooling under 
drip pipe in Building #37; Dade Caunty notified of child's injury 

(SR 347; 3 4 9 ) .  

March 13, 1977 - Demetrius Green burned because of hat water 
spewing from drip pipe, without a drain, in Building #37, located 

at N.W. 75th Street and N.W. 24th Avenue in Scott Homes Project 

(R 619). 

March 21, 1977 - Dade County orders replacement of the water 
heater in Building #37 (SR 4 8 9- 4 9 8 ) .  

September 1977 - Green sues Dade County, HUD and Florida Gas 
Company. 

May 10, 1978 - Plaintiff takes deposition of Dade County 
through representative L. Hargis; who identifies two sets of 

alteration and repair plans, one for repairs for 2 5  buildings 

(repairs for Joyner Construction work) and plans for 26 buildings 

(repairs for construction work by Ed Ricke) (SR 405-406). 

November 30, 1978 - Deposition of Bert Saymon, representa- 
tive f o r  Rader & Associates, the architects; Plaintiff's counsel 

announces on the Record that Plaintiff is keeping in his 

possession all of the exhibits, which are the various color keyed 

plans involving the Scott Homes Project which could be obtained 

from him by the Defendants in that lawsuit (Dade County, Florida 

Gas, HUD). 

May of 1978 - Plaintiff ta lkes  the deposition of 

Metropolitan Dade County through its representative L.R. Hargis 

at the Department of Housing & Urban Development (SR 3 9 7- 4 0 0 ) .  
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Hargis brought with him several exhibits which included contract 

documents and specification for improvements at the housing 

project; the specifications for alterations and repairs to 25 

buildings (Plaintiff's Exhibit #6)(SR 4 0 5- 4 0 6 ) .  

1979 - Green settles with Dade County and Florida Gas for 
$100,000. 

May 2, 1980 - Green sues architect Rader & Associates, Marr 

Plumbing, Ed Ricke & Sons, etc, (R 1-9). Plaintiff alleges that 

injury was due to absence of a drain under the outside drip pipe 

as required by the manufacturer and applicable codes (R 1-19). 

Plaintiff does not plead a latent dangerous condition, or that a 

defective heater caused water to be too hot: 

Count 11: Cause of Action Aqainst 
Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc. for Neqliqence... 

30. Defendant, Ricke, breached its duty owed 
to the Plaintiffs in that it: 

(a) Failed to provide for a good and 
adequate drain, or a reasonable substitute 
therefor, as provided in the manufacturer's 
specifications; and/or, 

(b) Failed to examine the plans and 
specifications to determine if they complied 
w i t h  applicable codes and regulations bearing 
on the work; and/or, 

(c) Failed to report to the Housing 
Authority said lack of compliance; and/or, 

(d) Failed to competently and properly 
supervise the work of its plumbing 
subcontractor, Defendant, Marr; and/or, 

(e) Failed to inform, advise or require 
its plumbing sub-contractor, Defendant, 
Marr, to obey the manufacturer's specific 
instructions and specification in the 
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installation of all water heaters, including 
the gas water heater in question; and/or, 

(f) Failed to notice or observe that all 
water heaters, including the one in question 
were installed in violation of the 
manufacturer's specifications, applicable 
codes and regulations and reasonable prudent 
practice; and/or, 

(9) Failed to otherwise utilize that 
degree of care that a reasonable and prudent 
general contractor would exercise under like 
circumstances. Specifically, this Defendant 
carelessly and negligently permitted the 
installation of the water heater in a manner 
that it would discharge to a location with 
little percolation, where puddles of boiling 
water would likely form. Moreover, it was in 
areas easily accessible to children of tender 
years, often used as a playground by them. 

( R  1-19). 

May 1980 - April 1981 - No discovery propounded to Green, 
through interrogatories or requests to produce, and no 

depositions taken of a Ricke, to establish that Ricke did work on 

Building #37, site of Green's accident; Plaintiff apparently 

relying on discovery conducted in first lawsuit against Dade 

County; discovery requests limited to inquiries regarding 

insurance coverage issue in the Ricke suit. 

December 2, 1980 - Ed Ricke & Sons' Answer expressly denies 

the allegations in Green's Complaint that Ricke installed the 

subject water heater and drain and Ricke raises the affirmative 

defense that the negligence was due to third parties. 

These Defendants specifically deny the 
alleqations contained in Paragraphs #27, 28, 
29, 30, 31, 41 and 4 2  of the Complaint (that 
Ricke installed water heater) and demand 
strict proof thereof. 
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. . .  
7 .  As an affirmative defense, these 
defendants state that the plaintiff's alleged 
injuries were so l e ly  the result of negligence 
on the part of third-parties who were not in 
the care, custody, control or supervision of 
these defendants, and therefore, plaintiff 
cannot recover against these defendants. 

(R 105-127). 

October 1980 - Green settles with subcontractor Marr 
Plumbing for $300,000 (R 87-92). 

May 1981 - Statute of Limitations runs for suit against 
Joyner Construction. 

July 22, 1981 - Ricke moves for Summary Judgment on Slavin 

Doctrine ( R  4 0 4- 4 0 5 ) .  

August 17, 1981 - Summary Judgment denied (R 4 2 2 ) .  

April 13, 1982 - First trial ends in mistrial due to juror 

illness; second jury impanelled immediately. 

April 16, 1982 - Verdict entered in favor of Ricke. 
July 19, 1983 - Third District Court of Appeal reverses 

Rickets verdict for a new trial, due to importer closing 

argument. Green v. Ed Ricke and Sans, Inc., 438 So.2d 25 (Fla. 

3d DCA 1983). 

March 28, 1985 - Florida Supreme Court affirms new trial 
based on improper closing argument. Ed Ricke and Sons, Inc.  v. 

Green, 468 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1985). 

THIS LAWSUIT 

August 29, 1985 - Case set for trial April 7, 1986. 
April 4, 1986 - Plaintiff sends "Notice to Produce at 
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Trial. I' 

March 7, 1986 - Plaintiff obtains Affidavit of Donna M. 
Romito stating that no building permits were issued to 2370 N.W. 

75th St. for repairs in 1960-1970. 

March 24, 1986 - Plaintiff sets deposition of Ricke and 
requests production of all documents, including building permits. 

April 4, 1986 - Defense counsel Hamilton sends letter to 
Plaintiff's counsel, in response to Green's repeated demands to 

produce permits, stating that he is still looking for plumbing 

permits and the CO's (SR 298). Attorney Hamilton memorialized 

that he had previously informed Plaintiff's counsel that if the 

permits can be found he will produce them and call a witness at 

trial to testify on this issue (SR 2 9 8 ) .  Attorney Hamilton 

subpoenas records custodian of Dade County Building and Zoning. 

April 7, 1986 - Third trial, Plaintiff introduces evidence 
through testimony of Jim Ricke; that Ricke can lacate no plumbing 

permits for the renovation work on Building #37 where incident 

took place; Jim Ricke testifies that Ricke did the work on the 

Scott Home Project under i t s  contract, and that Ricke pulled the 

plumbing permits for all work that it performed (Plaintiff's 

Exhibit #41) (SR 308-349). 

April 11, 1986 - Plaintiff announces that he is still in the 
process of discovering evidence as to who performed the 

construction work at the site of the accident, and wishes more 

time to continue to pursue and discover evidence (SR 352); 

Plaintiff announces that if he chooses to move for a 
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mistrial, he will go to the Third District Court of Appeal with a 

Motion to Enforce the Mandate, to prohibit a trial on the issue 

of whether or not Ricke did the construction at the site of the 

Plaintiff's accident (SR 358); 

Trial judge announces that if the Third District holds that 

the court and parties are bound by the factual assumption that 

Ricke did the work, then the trial judge will comply with 

whatever decision is made by the Third District (SR 360); Judge 

notes that both sides agree that more discovery is needed so that 

justice can be done, so that a judgment will not be entered 

against a party who did not do the work sued upon (Ricke) 

(SR 360-361). 

Defense counsel notes that his agreement to the mistrial was 

based on the assumption that the parties would be able to do 

additional discovery t a  demonstrate to the court that Ricke was 

not the negligent party and that the Plaintiff would have the 

opportunity to prove that Ricke was; that the agreement to 

mistrial was not to present other issues to the Third District 

in order for the Plaintiff to obtain a judgment on estoppel 

(SR 362). 

Trial court grants Plaintiff's Motion for Mistrial and gives 

Plaintiff two years to do discovery to establish Ricke did 

construction work on Building #37. 

April 24, 1986 - Plaintiff appeals to the Third District to 
enforce its Mandate of October 28, 1983 (SR 365-370). 

Plaintiff argues that the prior decision of the Third 
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District, as well as the Supreme Court's decision, was law of the 

case, which determined that the work was done by Ricke at 

Building #37; and that Ricke was estopped to deny it did the work 

under the theories of detrimental reliance, inconsistent 

positions, the law of the case, and judicial admissions (SR 365- 

370). 

April 25, 1986 - Deposition of Larry Ricke taken by the 
Plaintiff (SR 2 5 5- 2 7 8 ) .  

June 2, 1986 - Ricke responds to appeal filed in Third 

District; Ricke asserts that there was no limitation of issues or 

evidence on retrial, when the Third District reversed the verdict 

and judgment in its favor and ordered a new trial,; trial held 

April 1986, was within both the law of the case and the Mandate 

issued by the Third District, and Ricke was not estopped from 

presenting the evidence that it did not do the work (SR 371-377). 

June 16, 1986 - Third District Court of Appeal enters an 
Order dismissing Green's Motion to Enforce the Mandate, a8 there 

was no showing of noncompliance by Ricke, with the prior decision 

of the Third District or its Mandate (SR 396). 

November 8, 1988 - Fourth trial set for April 3, 1989, 
(R 781). 

February 21, 1989 - Ricke moves for Summary Judgment on 
undisputed evidence that it did not do the construction work at 

the site of the Plaintiff's accident (R 782-783). 

March 6 ,  1989 - Ricke files Affidavit stating that its files 
and all files available to it contained no documents identifying 

? -  
I '  
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the entity that performed the work other than those documents 

already produced to the Plaintiff (R 7 8 4 ) .  

May 17, 1989 - Green moves for a continuance of trial date 
to do discovery (R 787-788). 

May 23, 1989 - Plaintiff's counsel filed April 1982 

depositions of Dade County/Hargis in opposition to Motion for 

Summary Judgment; Plaintiff also filed an Affidavit stipulating 

that the Summary Judgment should be entered in favor of Ricke, if 

this 1982 statement that Ricke did the work was not sufficient to 

generate a jury issue (SR 26-92; 93-118; 279-280). 

July 31, 1989 - Hearing on Ricke's Motion for Summary 

Judgment (R 914- 954) .  

July 31, 1989 - Order granting Summary Judgment in favor of 
Ricke (R 955). 

August 3, 1989 - Plaintiff's third appeal filed (R 789- 790) .  

August 20, 1991 - Third District holds that Ricke is 
estopped from denying it did work at accident site based on 

litigation which ended in mistrial, and that Ricke was not 

entitled to Summary Judgment under Slavin Doctrine because hot 

water which injured Plaintiff was inherently dangerous. Green, 

supra. 

Throughout the past 12 years of litigation against Ricke, 

the Plaintiff apparently relied on all the discovery he conducted 

in his first lawsuit against the landowner, Dade County, and 

Florida Gas. 

his possession the Ricke contract, plus both sets of original 

As a result of that discovery, the Plaintiff had in 
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site plans and overlays showing which contractors did the work on 

the fifty buildings involved. 

THIRD MISTRIAL 

Prior to trial in April 1986, the Plaintiff sent a "Notice 

to Produce at Trial," demanding that Ricke produce a l l  plumbing 

permits it pulled, all CO's received on the project, etc. 

Attorney Hamilton sent a letter to Plaintiff's counsel, informing 

him that they were still looking for the plumbing permits and the 

C O ' s  because they had been unable to locate any of them (SR 298). 

Of course, the original permits posted on the job site were 

discarded when the work was completed, but permits are 

permanently listed in the Dade County Permit Record. 

At trial, Plaintiff's counsel argued that the evidence was 

going to establish that Ed Ricke entered into a contract with the 

County, under which Ricke installed the subject water heater and 

outside pipe without a drain, through its subcontractor, Marr 

Plumbing (SR 302-303). 

Counsel told the jury that the evidence would establish that 

in violation of the South Florida Building Code, a drain was not 

provided f o r  the hot water, from the pipe, to run off and that 

hot water started coming out of the drip pipe outside the 

breezeway as early as January 4 ,  1969 (some eight years before 

Green's injury (SR 3 0 3 ) .  

Green's attorney pursued, for the first time in any trial, 

the theory that Ricke was negligent because it failed to properly 

pull any plumbing permits for the installation of the water 
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. 

heater by its subcontractor, at the building where the accident 

occurred, The Plaintiff introduced the Affidavit and testimony 

of Donna Romito, the custodian of records for the Dade County 

Building & Zoning Department, in support of this theory 

(Plaintiff's Exhibit #41) (SR 297). 

Romito stated that she had searched and reviewed the public 

records of Dade County and ascertained that no plumbing permit 

had been issued for the building located at the address of 2370 

NOW. 75th Street (Building #37) in 1966, the year Ricke was 

working at the project. On cross-examination, it was established 

that the permits were listed by building numbers and that a 

permit did exist for Building #37. 

Jim Ricke testified that the company did the construction on 

the heater in question, if it was one included in Ricke's 
project, pursuant to i t s  contract, but that he would need to 

examine the blueprints to be sure (SR 312-318). 

During the direct examination of Jim Ricke ,  the representa- 

tive of the Defendant, Plaintiffs's counsel asked 21 times, in 13 

pages of transcript, whether Ed Ricke & Sons had pulled plumbing 

permits for the work they did on the Scott Homes Project; whether 

they searched for these plumbing permits; whether their attorneys 

had searched for these plumbing permits; whether they had copies 

of the plumbing permits; if they worked without plumbing permits; 

could the work be approved without plumbing permits, etc. 

(SR 322-335). 

Jim Ricke testified that the company always pulled building 
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permits for the work that it did; and it had pulled permits for 

the work it did on the Scott Homes Project, but it no longer had 

copies of those permits since it had been 2 0  years since the 

construction was completed; that he remembered the permits being 

posted at the building site; that they would have never been 

allowed to do the work, or been paid for the work, had the 

permits not been pulled for the work they did (SR 322-328). 

In response to the Plaintiff's evidence that no plumbing 

permits were pulled by Ricke for the construction work done on 

Building #37, the Defendants put on the testimony of expert 

contractor, Mr. Webb (SR 174-189). Mr. Webb was presented with 

copies of the plans (Plaintiff's Exhibits #5 and # 6 ;  "J" i% "K") , 
for the construction at the Scott Homes Project, as well as 

copies of the records of the Dade Building & Zoning Department, 

showing all of the plumbing permits which were pulled for the 

Scott Homes Project for 1965 and 1966 (SR 179-189). 

Webb testified that by using a magnifying glass, he was able 

to examine the small "site plan" inserted on the face sheet of 

Plaintiff's exhibits I I J "  and "K"; to identify which buildings 

were being renovated under each set of plans (SR 181-182). Webb 

compared the site plans with the cross-hatched, or cross-marked, 

buildings on each set of plans, with the addresses of the 

buildings and with the plumbing permits. He testified that, in 

his expert opinion, the work done on Building #37 located at N.W. 

75th Street and N.W. 24th Avenue, was done in February of 1965, 

by Joyner Construction Company (SR 183-188). This is the 
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building which undisputedly was the site of the Plaintiff's 

accident (SR 189). 

The Plaintiff moved to strike the testimony of expert Webb, 

claiming that he was surprised and that there never had been any 

such testimony in any of the previous trials (SR 189-190; 191- 

192; 194). 

Counsel for Ricke pointed out that, in i t s  Answer, Ricke had 

denied all allegations of negligence in the installation of the 

water heater in Building #37 .  Defense counsel also pointed out 

that it was the Plaintiff's burden of proof to show that Ricke 

had in fact installed the water heater which caused the 

Plaintiff's injury (SR 190-191). He explained that the reason 

that the Plaintiff was unable to locate the plumbing permits was 

because the Plaintiff did not look for them in the right place.

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