D.A.4-4-92 0x7

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,860

CLERK SUPREME COURTE

ED RICRE & SONS, INC., a Florida corporation,

Petitioner,

vs .

DEMETRIUS OCTAVIUS GREEN, a minor, by and through his Guardian of the Property, EDWARD P. SWAN, ESQUIRE,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

DONALD FELDMAN, ESQ.
2255 W. Glades Road
Suite 218A
Boca Raton, Florida 33486
-andDANIELS & TALISMAN, P.A.
Suite 2401, New World Tower
100 N. Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33132
(305) 381-7720

Attorneys for Respondent.

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

The cases are quite clear that Ed Ricke by its failure to raise this issue on the first appeal has foregone its right to do so now. Coast Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n. v. DeLoach, 376 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); McDonough Power Equipment, Inc. v. Brown, 486 So.2d 609 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Wrotin v. Wash Bowl. Inc., 456 So.2d 967 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Marine Midland Bank Central v. Cote, 384 So.2d 658 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). The purpose of the law of the case doctrine is to lend stability to judicial decisions, avoid piecemeal appeals and bring litigation to an end as expeditiously as possible. Valsecchi v. Proprietors Insurance Co.. 502 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). If Ed Ricke were right (which is denied), and had raised this issue in the first appeal, the last 7 years of

litigation would have been unnecessary. On the other hand, and as well illustrated by this case, if a defendant were allowed to raise this type of issue a second time, litigation would never end.

Utley v. City of St. Petersburg, 163 So. 523 (Fla. 1935).

Accordingly, the lower court did not err in denying the motion for summary judgment on this ground.

B. Ed Ricke cannot now defend on the basis it did not do the work. Response to Point 11.

Ed Ricke also contends it is entitled to summary judgment because it has now established by "undisputed evidence" that it did not install the water heater in question. The question thus presented is whether a defendant, after many years of agreeing that it did indeed do the work in question and so representing to the plaintiff, three juries and two appellate courts (including this one), should now be allowed to deny its responsibility, when the plaintiff can no longer engage in any meaningful discovery on the issue and is time barred from suing the responsible party (if it turns out that defendant is right).

1. Ed Ricke is estopped.

Ed Ricke argues that it has the right to do this for several reasons. The first is **essentially** that it has not changed its position but has always denied it did the work. This argument is a serious distortion of the **record**.

⁷ As shown infra, at pp. 34-37, responden, **does** not agree with this statement. Rather, there is clearly a question of fact as to which company **did** the work in question.

su t was **fil**ed against E Ricke in May 1980. In ts answer, it specifically plead that it was without knowledge as to the paragraph which alleged that this heater was installed under its contract. (R.3-4, 105). Ed Ricke did not directly deny that fact

A party, however, may not deny sufficient information or knowledge with impunity, but is subject to the requirements of honesty in pleading. See 2A J. Moore, Federal Practice 18.22 (1968). An averment will be deemed admitted when the matter is obviously one as which defendant has knowledge information. Mesirow v. Duggan, 240 F.2d 751 (8th Cir.), cert. denied **sub** nom, <u>Duggan v.</u> <u>Green</u>, 355 U.S. 864, **78** s.Ct. 93, 2 L.Ed.2d 70 (1957). \bullet \bullet [I]f the matte alleged in the averment was a matter of record peculiarly within the control and knowledge of the defendant, an answer that defendant was without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief did not constitute a denial under Fed.R.Civ.P. 8(b), <u>See also American</u> <u>Photocopy Equipment Co. v. Rovico, Inc.</u>, 359 F.2d 745 (7 Cir. 1966); Harvey Aluminum, Inc. <u>v. N.L.R.B.</u>, 335 F.2d 749 (9th cir. 1964); Squire v. Levan, 32 F. Supp. 437 (E.D. Pa. 1940); 2A J. Moore, Federal Practice ¶ 8.22 (1968)

58 F.2d at 446-447. The court also held that leave to amend would be denied due to the prejudice that would result to the plaintiff since the statute of limitations had run. The court found that it was proper to so rule because the defendant was at fault in the present situation, not the plaintiff:

Plaintiff cannot be considered negligent for not discovering Crompton's alleged defense.

(continued...)

⁸ This allegation was not sufficient to put plaintiff on notice that Ed Ricke was claiming it did not install this heater. In David v. Crompton & Knowles Corp., 58 F.R.D. 444 (E.D. Pa. 1973), a products liability action, defendant answered that it was without knowledge a5 to whether it manufactured the product in question. After the statute of limitations ran, defendant moved to amend its answer to assert that it was not responsible for the product. The court held that an amendment was necessary to raise this defense because, although the rules provide for such a response,

and it certainly never indicated to plaintiff that some other company installed the heater. Rather, during the early stages of discovery, Ricke's counsel informed plaintiff that there was no need to establish more solidly that the heater was installed by Ed Ricke because it was not contending otherwise. (S.R. 39). Further, Ed Ricke affirmatively stated that it installed the heater in both its motion for summary judgment and its motion for rehearing. (R. **404**, 438). It presented testimony and arqued to the jury in the 1982 trial that it had installed the heater; and, it requested and was granted jury instructions based on its having done so. Further, Ed Ricke did not cross-appeal the giving of an instruction that it was responsible, as a matter of law, for any negligence of Marr in installing the heater. It led this Court and the Third District into issuing opinions expressly stating that Ed Ricke installed the heater in question. Finally, during the 1986 trial, Ed Ricke's own corporate representative testified that the company installed the Thus, nothing could be further from the truth than water heater. to contend that Ed Ricke never asserted the factual position that

^{8(...}continued)

Crompton never gave any indication prior to June, 1972 that it was asserting such a defense. If plaintiff had received timely notice of this alleged defense he would have had sufficient time to investigate the relationship between Crompton and Hunter and determine which is the proper party. That possibility was denied to him by defendant's long delay.

⁵⁸ F.2d at 448. See also Jones v. Ambler Quarry, Inc., **64 F.R.D.** 696 (**E.D.** Pa. 1974); Gardner v. Allstate Insurance Co., 595 F. Supp. **824** (**S.D.** Miss. 1984).

it installed the water heater in question. It clearly took that position for the first six years of litigation.

It is just as clear that plaintiff Demetrius relied on that assertion. Since defendant never made an issue of its responsibility for the work, plaintiff never tried to further tie down the issue during the first six years of the litigation. Once defendant did so, it was impossible for plaintiff to gather any additional information due to the extraordinary lapse of time and intervening loss and destruction of many records. (S.R. 279-280). Thus, plaintiff has been prejudiced by the defendant's assertion of inconsistent positions. See David, 58 F.R.D. 44; Jones, 64 F.R.D. 696; and Gardner, 595 F.Supp. 524.

In this regard, it must be made quite clear that plaintiff did not have in his possession either the site plans or building permit records which Ed Ricke now asserts establish that it did not do the work. 10 At the time these documents were first presented to the

⁹ The original permits have themselves been lost or destroyed and the buildings have been renumbered. (R.938,942). Additionally, there were three waves of construction, not simply two. There is another set of plans under the name of Marr Plumbing (Ed Ricke's subcontractor) for the same work to be performed on twenty-five, rather than twenty-six buildings. However, other contract documents for all three phases of construction cannot be found. (R.938,945). Thus, at this point, no conclusive proof can be produced as to the phase of construction during which the work in question was done, who did that work, or even exactly what buildings Ed Ricke worked on.

were attached to Saymon's deposition, there is no evidence what the one site plan allegedly so attached shows. Neither Saymon's deposition nor such plan is in the record and plaintiff does not have a copy of either. Further, plaintiff was never given an opportunity below to respond to the assertion that it should have known -- the court cut off all argument on the issue.

court, Ed Ricke's counsel and expert both stated that they had just found them in the Dade County public records after two weeks of searching. During that trial, these documents were labeled Defendant's Exhibits J and K. They have been known as such ever since.

This Court set forth the law on estoppel against inconsistent positions in <u>Palm Beach County v. Palm Beach Estates</u>, 148 So. **544**, **548** (Fla. 1933):

It is a general rule that, where a party to a suit has assumed an attitude on a former appeal, and has carried his case to an appellate adjudication on a particular theory asserted by the record on that appeal, he is estopped to assume in a pleading filed in a later phase of that same case, or another appeal, any other or inconsistent position toward the same parties and subject matter.

The foregoing is the doctrine of estoppel against inconsistent positions in judicial proceedings, not the doctrine of res judicata. It is based upon the theory that, where a party has mads a record of his own case, from which record he has sought and secured from a court a final judicial order or judgment based on the allegation made by him that the facts of his case as alleged by him in his own pleadings are true, which allegation as to the issuable facts have been likewise accepted by the opposite party as true, for the purpose of having rendered by the court its final decision or judgment on such record, thereafter each of the parties is estopped to alter his position on the record to the prejudice of an adverse party, where the parties and the subject matter involved in the litigation remain the same. [cites omitted].

148 **So.** at 548. In order for this doctrine to apply, the party estopped need not prevail by way of a judgment against **his** adversary; all that is necessary is that he successfully assume **a**

factual position on the record -- whether by verdict, findings of fact or admissions. Palm Beach Co.. See also Salcedo v. Asociacion Cubana, Inc., 368 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 342 (Fla. 1979); Grauer v. Occidental Life Insurance Co., 363 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), cert. denied, 372 So.2d 468 (Fla. 1979).

Here, as shown, for years defendant took the position it had installed the water heater: it told the jury that; it requested the court to so instruct the jury; and it maintained this position on the appeals. Plaintiff accepted these assertions and, therefore, never attempted to establish that any other party was responsible or did discovery as to such potential issue. Thus, defendant successfully assumed a factual position and carried it through appeal. Only after remand, did it attempt to present this was inconsistent with its prior position, too late, and, prejudicial to the plaintiffs. Therefore, the evidence should have been precluded. Sobel v. Jefferson Stores, Inc., 459 So.2d 433 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

This is the result that was reached in several federal cases. In <u>Cowqill v. Raymark Industries</u>, 832 F.2d 798 (3d Cir. 1987), an asbestos related wrongful death action, summary judgment was entered for the defendant on statute of limitation grounds. The plaintiff, in the trial court and the first appeal, took the position that the decedent first knew he had an asbestos related disease in November of 1981. The Third Circuit reversed the summary judgment holding that there were questions of fact as to

whether the decedent should have discovered this condition two years prior to filing his complaint on August 26, 1983. On remand, plaintiff attempted to prove that the decedent did not have an asbestos related injury until after August, 1981. The district court refused to allow this evidence and the Third Circuit affirmed:

Mrs. Cowgill had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue of whether her husband had an asbestos-related injury prior to November of 1981 and she chose to concede that he did, contesting only whether he knew or should have known of its existence. Having made that election and pursued her theory of limitations through an appeal, consideration of finality and efficiency mandate that she be barred from relitigating the limitations issue on a different theory factually inconsistent with the one she elected to pursue.

832 F.2d at 803. <u>See also Baumer v. United States</u>, 685 F.2d 1318 (11th Cir. 1982) (where party made deliberate tactical decision not to present evidence in first trial and did not establish such was unavailable, it could not be presented in second trial). Here, defendant made the tactical decision to defend on the sole issue that the negligence of Dade County was the entire cause of the accident. It must bear the burden of that choice.

2. Law of the case bars this issue.

This same result is reached under a law of the case analysis. As stated, this doctrine precludes relitigation of all issues necessarily ruled upon by the court in a prior appeal as well as of all issues upon which an appeal or cross-appeal could have been taken but were not. <u>Airvac, Inc. v. Ranger Insurance Co.</u>, 330 So.2d 467 (Fla. 1976); <u>State v. Stabile</u>, 443 So.2d 398 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1984); Wroten, supra; Marine Midland Bank Central, supra; Coast Federal Savings & Loan Assin., supra. It applies to both conclusions of fact and interpretations of law. Goodman v. Olson, 365 So.2d 393 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. denied, 376 So.2d 74 (Fla. 1979); Alsup v. Your Graphics Are Showing, Inc., 531 So.2d 222 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

Reconsideration of any point is only as a matter of grace and not a right. Such reconsideration should not be made at all except in unusual circumstances and for the most cogent reasons -- and always, of course, only where manifest injustice will result from a strict and rigid adherence to the rule. Strazzulla v. Hendrick, 177 So.2d 1, 4 (1965).

Here the law of the case as expressed by the Third **District** Court and this Court is that Ed Ricke installed the water heater in question. <u>Green</u>, 438 So.2d at 26; <u>Ed Ricke</u>, 468 So.2d at 909. In addition, the trial court instructed the jury:

The Court has determined and now instructs you, as a matter of law, that the defendant, Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc., is responsible for any negligence of Marr Plumbing Company in installing the gas water heater.

(S.R. 529, 581). Defendant did not claim error as to **this** instruction on cross appeal. Thus, it is the law of the case that Ed Ricke installed the water heater in question.

The law of the case may be modified in unusual circumstances, including where the presentation of new evidence dictates a different result. Ed Ricke claimed below that it fell within this exception. However, the courts are quite clear that

the exception to law of the case where 'evidence on a subsequent trial is substantially different' is inapplicable where by the prior appeal the issue is not left open for decision. Paull V. Archer-Daniels-Midland Company, 313 F.2d 612 (8th Cir. 1963); Zdanok V. Glidden Company, Durkee Famous Foods Division, 327 F.2d 944 (2d Cir. 1964), cert. denied, 377 U.S. 934, 84 S.Ct. 1338, 12 L.Ed. 2d 298 (1964).

National Airline, Inc. v. International Association of Machinists & Aerospace Workers, 430 F.2d 957, 960 (5th Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 992 (1971). Accord: Goodpasture, Inc. v. M/V Pollux, 688 F.2d 1003, 1006 n. 4 (5th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 460 U.S. 1084 (1983). As shown above, the issue was foreclosed by the opinions of this Court and the Florida Supreme Court. Accordingly, Ed Ricke had neither the right to present its "new" evidence as a defense nor the right to have the lower court enter summary judgment based thereon.

Further, the federal courts hold that evidence which is "new evidence" simply because a party neglected to present it at a prior point in the proceedings does not justify an exception to the law of the case. Al Haddad Bros. Enterprises, Inc. v. M/S Agapi, 635 F.Supp. 205 (D. Del. 1986), affirmed, 813 F.2d 396 (3d Cir. 1987). See also Lyons v. Fisher, 888 F.2d 1071 (5th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 110 S.Ct. 2209 (1990) (where party flatly fails to present evidence in prior proceeding despite having both reason and opportunity to do so, he does not suffer manifest injustice simply because the law of the case doctrine precludes his tardy introduction of that evidence).

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